IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

MAY 27 1992

CASE NO. 79,547

By Chief Deputy Clerk

ANTHONY SESSIONS,

Petitioner,

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION, WHICH CERTIFIES CONFLICT, OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1351 N.W. 12th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-3003

BRUCE A. ROSENTHAL Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 227218

Counsel for Petitioner

#

# INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, Anthony Sessions, was the defendant in the trial court and the Appellant in the Third District Court of Appeal. The State, the Respondent here n, was the prosecution in the trial court and the Appellee before the lower court. The symbol "R" will refer to the record on appeal, and the symbol "T" will refer to the transcript.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Following a jury trial, the defendant was convicted of seconddegree murder with a firearm, S 782.04(2), Fla.Stat. (1989) (Count I),<sup>1</sup> which, because a firearm is not an essential element of the offense (<u>id</u>.), is mandatorily reclassified (from a first-degree felony punishable by life) to a life felony pursuant to S 775.087(1)(a), Fla.Stat. (1989);<sup>2</sup> and carrying a firearm in the commission of a felony, to-wit, second-degree murder (Count 11) (R. 1-2, 39-40, 41).<sup>3</sup>

The sentencing guidelines recommended sentence for the convictions was twenty-two to twenty-seven years, with a threeyear firearm mandatory minimum (R. 48). The trial court sentenced the defendant as an habitual violent felony offender on Count I to a term of life imprisonment, with a mandatory minimum of fifteen years, and, on Count 11, to an enhanced term of ten years, to run concurrent with the sentence on Count I (R. 44-45).<sup>4</sup>

The offense date was March 12, 1989 (R. 1; T. 142, 176).

1

See, e.g., State v. Whitehead, 472 So.2d 730 (Fla. 1985) (second-degree murder, a first-degree felony punishable by life, is reclassified to a life felony where a firearm is involved).

A third count of the information, charging possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, had been severed prior to trial; subsequent to trial, the defendant entered a guilty plea to that count (R. 32).

The trial court did not, presumably for the reason that it was entering a habitual offender sentence, provide a written statement of reasons for upward guidelines departure.

On appeal, a panel of the Third District correctly set aside the judgment and sentence on Count 11 on the authority of <u>Cleveland</u> <u>v. State</u>, 587 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1991),<sup>5</sup> but, on authority of the contemporaneously filed <u>en banc</u> decision in <u>Lamont v. State</u>, 17 F.L.W. D507 (Fla. 3d DCA Feb. 18, 1992), ruled that the life felony offense (second-degree murder with a firearm) was subject to enhancement <u>under \$ 775.084(4)(e)</u>, Fla.Stat. (1989) and affirmed that sentence. <u>Sessions v. State</u>, 17 F.L.W. D511 (Fla. 3d DCA Feb. 18, 1992). Recognizing the de facto express and direct conflict with every other district on the point, the Third District in this case, as it had in <u>Lamont</u>, certified conflict.

Notice of discretionary review was timely filed by the Petitioner Sessions on March 17, 1992.

In <u>Cleveland</u>, this Court held that when a felony conviction is enhanced because of the use of a firearm, the single act of use of that firearm in the commission of the felony cannot also provide the basis for a separate conviction and sentence under § 790.07 (2), Fla.Stat.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The lower court held, despite the absence of a textual provision to support such sentencing, that life felonies were subject to enhancement under the Habitual Offender Act, § 775.084, Fla.Stat. (1989). This holding was erroneous. As a fundamental matter of statutory construction, statutes must be construed according to their plain and clear meaning; moreover, penal statutes must be strictly construed in favor of a defendant. As a matter of separation of powers, it is not the role of the courts to remedy a perceived disparity in penal statutes by reading in a penalty for a particular offense when the Legislature did not so provide.

The construction asserted by the Petitioner as the proper one under the habitual offender statute, that life felonies are not subject to enhancement, is consistent with the holding of every other district court of appeal in Florida on the subject.

The lower court's reliance on subsection (4)(e) of the statute, added in 1988, was flawed for several reasons. First, that amendment did not alter the category of offenses subject to habitual offender enhancement (i.e., first-degree, second-degree and third-degree felonies), but only altered the effect of enhanced sentences otherwise properly imposed for those offenses. The amendment did this by removing such sentences from sentencing guidelines constraints (thereby statutorily overruling this Court's prior decisions on the subject), and by eliminating eligibility for parole and for basic gain time. Nothing in the enacting chapter

through which subsection (4)(e) was added (chapter 88-131) amended the Habitual Offender Act by bringing life felonies within its scope.

Life felonies, like capital felonies, have always been outside the scope of the Habitual Offender Act. When the Habitual Offender Act in its modern form was enacted in 1971 (effective January 1, 1972), life felonies <u>had nat vet been created</u>. They were not created until almost a year later. The statute has never been amended to include them within its scope. The lower court's central reliance on subsection (4)(e) constitutes an implicit conclusion of amendment by implication, a conclusion which cannot be sustained under either the text of the statute, the applicable principles of construction, or the history of the statute.

The lower court's further reliance on § 775.084 sentencing reference provisions in criminal offense statutes is similarly fatally flawed, because such reference provisions appeared in the pertinent statutes before life felonies had ever been created. Moreover, such reference provisions continue to appear in numerous misdemeanor offense statutes, although the Habitual Offender Act does not contain any provisions for misdemeanor sentencing enhancement.

The lower court's interpretation of the statute constitutes judicial legislation and cannot be sustained. Its decision should be quashed, and, correspondingly, the holdings of the other four district courts of appeal of Florida on the subject should be approved.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

THE FLORIDA HABITUAL OFFENDER ACT, SECTION 775.084, FLA.STAT. (1989), DOES NOT PROVIDE FOR EXTENDED TERMS OF IMPRISONMENT FOR LIFE FELONY OFFENSES.

The Florida Habitual Felony Offender statute, § 775.084, Fla.Stat. (1989), contains no provisions for enhancement of life felony offenses; by its express terms, it applies only to first, second and third-degree felonies. The statute provides in its entirety as follows:

**775.084** Habitual felony offenders and habitual violent felony offenders; extended terms; definitions; procedure; penalties.

(1) As used in this act;

(a) "Habitual felony offender\*\*means a defendant for whom the court may impose an extended term of imprisonment, as provided in this section, if it finds that:

1. The defendant has previously been convicted of any combination of two or more felonies in this state or other qualified offenses;

2. The felony for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed within 5 years of the date of the conviction of the last prior felony or other qualified offense of which he was convicted or within 5 years of the defendant's release, on parole or otherwise, from a prison sentence or other commitment imposed as a result of a prior conviction for a felony or other qualified offense, whichever is later;

3. The defendant has not received a pardon for any felony or other qualified offense that is necessary for the operation of this section; and

4. A conviction of a felony or other qualified offense necessary to the operation of this section has not been set aside in any post-conviction proceeding.

(b) "Habitual violent felony offender" means a defendant for whom the court may impose an extended term of imprisonment, as provided in this section, if it finds that:

1. The defendant has previously been

convicted of a felony or an attempt or conspiracy to commit a felony and one or more of such convictions was for:

- a. Arson,
- b. Sexual battery,

c. Robbery,

- d. Kidnapping;
- e. Aggravated child abuse,
- f. Aggravated assault,
- g. Murder,
- h. Manslaughter,

i. Unlawful throwing, placing, or discharging of a destructive device or bomb,

j. Armed burglary, or

k. Aggravated battery;

2. The felony for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed within 5 years of the date of the conviction of the last prior enumerated felony or within 5 years of the defendant's release, on parole or otherwise, from a prison sentence or other commitment imposed as a result of a prior conviction for an enumerated felony, whichever is later;

3. The defendant has not received a pardon on the ground of innocence for any crime that is necessary for the operation of this section; and

4. A conviction of a crime necessary to the operation of this section has not been set aside in any post-conviction proceeding.

"Qualified offense" means any offense, (C) substantially similar in elements and penalties to an offense in this state, which is in violation of a law of any other jurisdiction, whether that of another state, the District of Columbia, the United States or any possession or territory thereof, or any foreign jurisdiction, that was punishable under the law of such jurisdiction at the time of its commission by the defendant by death or imprisonment exceeding 1 year.

(2) For the purposes of this section, the placing of a person on probation without an adjudication of guilt shall be treated as a prior conviction if the subsequent offense for which he is to be sentenced was committed during such probationary period.

(3) In a separate proceeding, the court shall determine if the defendant is a habitual felony offender or a habitual violent felony offender. The procedure shall be as follows: (a) The court shall obtain and consider a presentence investigation prior to the imposition of a sentence as a habitual felony offender or a habitual violent felony offender.

(b) Written notice shall be served on the defendant and his attorney a sufficient time prior to the entry of a plea or prior to the imposition of sentence so as to allow the preparation of a submission on behalf of the defendant.

(c) Except provided in paragraph (a), all evidence presented shall be presented in open court with full rights of canfrontation, cross-examination, and representation by counsel.

(d) Each of the findings required as the basis for such sentence shall be found to exist by a preponderance of the evidence and shall be appealable to the extent normally applicable to similar findings.

(e) For the purpose of identification of a habitual felony offender or a habitual violent felony offender, the court shall fingerprint the defendant pursuant to s. 921.241.

(4)(a) The court, in conformity with the procedure established in subsection (3), shall sentence the habitual felony offender as follows:

1. In the case of a <u>felonv</u> Of <u>the</u> <u>first</u> <u>degree</u>, for life.

2. In the case of a <u>felony</u> of <u>the second</u> <u>degree</u>, for a term of years not exceeding 30.

3. In the case of a <u>felonv</u> Of <u>the</u> <u>third</u> <u>degree</u>, for a term of years not exceeding 10.

(b) The court, in conformity with the procedure established in subsection (3), may sentence the habitual violent felony offender as follows:

1. In the case of a <u>felony</u> Of <u>the first</u> <u>degree</u>, for life, and such offender shall not be eligible for release for 15 years.

2. In the case of a <u>felonv</u> of <u>the second</u> <u>deuree</u>, for a term of years not exceeding 30, and such offender shall not be eligible for release for 10 years.

3. In the case of a <u>felonv</u> Of <u>the</u> <u>third</u> <u>degree</u>, for a term of years not exceeding 10, and such offender shall not be eligible for release for 5 years.

(c) If the court decides that imposition

of sentence under this section is not necessary for the protection of the public, sentence shall be imposed without regard to this section. At any time when it appears to the court that the defendant is a habitual felony offender or a habitual violent felony offender, the court shall make that determination as provided in subsection (3).

(d) A sentence imposed under this section shall not be increased after such imposition. (e) A sentence imposed under this section shall not be subject to the provisions of The provisions of chapter 947 s. 921.001. shall not be applied to such person. Α defendant sentenced under this section shall not be eligible for gain-time granted by the Department of Corrections except that the department may grant up to 20 days of incentive gain-time each month as provided for in s. 944.275(4)(b).

(Emphasis added).

6

In concluding, despite the fact that the section refers only to enhancement of first, second and third degree felonies, that subsection (4)(e) provides for enhanced sentences for life felony offenses (but not for mandatory minimums otherwise imposable under \$ 4(b) of the statute), the Third District has isolated and divorced that subsection both from the rest of the statute and from the statute's historical development, and used it as an independent sentencing statute. In so doing, it has engaged in a remarkable act of judicial legislation. It has, moreover, as noted by Judge Hubbart dissenting below, placed itself in conflict with every other district court of appeal in the state.<sup>6</sup>

First District: <u>Glover v. State</u>, 17 F.L.W. D1019 (Fla. 1st DCA Apr. 15, 1992); <u>Conley v. State</u>, 592 So.2d 723 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992); <u>Siblev v. State</u>, 586 So.2d 1245 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); <u>West</u> <u>V. State</u>, 584 So.2d 1044 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); <u>Gholston v. State</u>, 589 So.2d 307 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 568 So.2d 519

#### OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL: BURDICK v. STATE

Purely as a textual or facial interpxetory matter, the four district courts of appeal which have been presented with the question and which have concluded that life felonies are not subject to enhancement under the habitual offender statute, § 775.084, Fla.Stat., are undoubtedly correct. See, e.g., Johnson v. State, 568 So.2d 519, 520 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) ("[T]here is no provision under the habitual violent felony offender statute for enhancing the sentence of a defendant convicted of a life felony."); Gholston v. State, 589 So.2d 307, 308 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (onmotion for rehearing or certification) ("Section 775.084, Florida Statutes, makes no provision for enhancing penalties for I I life felonies, or capital felonies."); Anthony v. State, 585 So.2d 1172, 1173 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991) ("[T]he habitual offender statute makes no provision for the enhancement of life felonies(.)") Walker v. State, 580 So.2d 281 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) (life felonies subject enhancement are not to under

<sup>(</sup>Fla. 1st DCA 1990); Barber v. State, 564 So.2d 1169 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. denied, 576 So.2d 284 (Fla. 1990); Second District: Nixon v. State, 595 So.2d 165 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); Parker v. State, 593 So.2d 1186 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); Pelham v. State, 595 So.2d 581 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); <u>Leaty v. State</u>, 590 So.2d 512 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991); <u>Anthony v. State</u>, 585 So.2d 1172 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991); McKinney v. State, 585 So.2d 318 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991); Ledesma v. State, 528 So.2d 470 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988); Fourth District: Newton v. State, 581 So.2d 212 (Fla. 4th DCA), app. dism., State v. Newton, 593 So.2d 1053 (Fla. 1991), approved, Newton v. State, 594 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1992); Walker v. State, 580 So.2d 281 (Fla. 4th DCA), review dismissed as improvidently granted, State v. Walker, 593 So.2d 1049 (Fla. 1992); Fifth District: <u>Hayes v. State</u>, 17 F.L.W. D1009 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992); West v. State, 584 So.2d 1044 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), opinion approved, 594 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1992); Paise V. State, 570 So.2d 1108 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990); Power v. State, 568 So.2d 511 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990).

\$ 775.084(4)(b)(1)), review dismissed as improvidently sranted, 593
So.2d 1049 (Fla. 1992); Power v. State, 568 So.2d 511, 512 (Fla.
5th DCA 1990) ("[L]ife sentences are not subject to habitual
offender enhancement(.)"); Paige v. State, 570 So.2d 1108 (Fla. 5th
DCA 1990) (construing Power to refer to life felonies).

The correctness of the foregoing has been implicitly recognized by this Court's decision in Burdick v. State, 594 So.2d 267 (Fla. 1992), which held first degree felonies punishable by life to be subject to enhancement:

> Thus, Burdick argues, in terms of penal policy, there is no difference between a first-degree felony punishable by life imprisonment and a life felony. Burdick concludes that because the district courts of appeal have held that life felonies are not subject to habitual offender enhancement, <u>see</u>, e.g., Johnson v. State, 568 So.2d 519, 520 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); Power v. State, 568 So.2d 511, 512 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), neither are first-degree felonies punishable by life imprisonment. We disagree.

594 So.2d at 268.<sup>7</sup>

7

The lower court's opinion was silent as to <u>Burdick</u> in relation to the life felony enhancement issue; it cited <u>Burdick</u> only with regard to the first-degree felony conclusion. 17 F.L.W. D509. However, the analysis of <u>Burdick</u>, in holding first-degree felonies punishable by life subject to the habitual offender statute, is

See also Burdick, 594 So.2d at 268, n.3: "We use the terms 'punishable by life,' 'punishable by life imprisonment,' and 'punishable by a term of years not exceeding life imprisonment,' synonymously, <u>as distinguished from</u> a 'life felony.""' (emphasis added).

directly applicable to the issue herein. In rejecting the defendant Burdick's argument that, in essence, first-degree felonies punishable by life were a separate specie of felony in Florida, this Court stated:

To paraphrase the court below, Burdick would have us judicially amend section 775.081(1) to add another classification of felonious crime, that of "first-degree felony punishable by life." Just as the district court declined this invitation, so must this Court. <u>We cannot rewrite legislative acts</u>.

594 So.2d at 269 (emphasis added).

Just as this Court appropriately declined the invitation to engraft another offense (first-degree felonies punishable by life) into § 775.081(1), so must the invitation to engraft the already existent classification of life felonies into § 775.084 be declined, when that statute does not by its term provide for their enhancement.

# CLASSIFICATION OF FELONIES IN FLORIDA AND PRINCIPLES OF CONSTRUCTION

Florida recognizes five categories of felonies, namely, capital felonies, life felonies, first degree, second degree, and third degree felonies. Section 775.081(1), Fla.Stat. The very statute creating these categories of felonies <u>expressly provides</u> that the classification is "for the purpose **Of** <u>sentence</u> and for any other purpose specifically provided by statute(.)" <u>Id</u>. (emphasis added). Obviously, under both the directly applicable basic principle of statutory construction that related statutes must be construed <u>in pari materia</u>, <u>see</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Ferquson v. State</u>, 377 So.2d 709 (Fla. 1979), and the very statement of purpose within the classifying statute itself, § 775.081 must be construed in conjunction with: § 775.082, providing the basic penalties for all five categories of felony; § 775.083, authorizing fining for <u>four</u> of those categories (fining is <u>not</u> authorized for capital felonies); and 775.084, providing for both habitual felony offender and habitual violent felony offender enhancement for <u>three</u> of those categories, namely, first, second and third degree felonies.

Simply put, the Legislature has created life felonies, has provided the penalties therefore, and has not subjected them to the enhancement provisions of § 775.084. That, in and of itself, should end the matter. <u>See, e.g., Perkins v. State</u>, 576 So.2d 1310 (Fla. 1991):

> One of the most fundamental principles of Florida law is that penal statutes must be strictly construed according to their letter. , This principle ultimately rests on the due process requirement that criminal statutes must say with some precision exactly what is prohibited. Words and meanings beyond the literal language may not be entertained nor may vagueness become a reason for broadening a penal statute.

> > . . .

The rule of strict construction also rests on the doctrine that the power to create crimes and punishments in derogation of the common law inheres solely in the democratic processes of the legislative branch. . . . This principle can be honored only if criminal etatutes are applied in their strict sense, not if the courts use some minor vagueness to extend the statutes' breadth beyond the strict language approved by the legislature. To do otherwise would violate the separation of powers. 576 So.2d at 1312-13 (citations omitted).

Clearly, under these principles, it could not be presumed that the Legislature intended punishment to extend further than that which has been expressly provided; a penalty cannot be read in by inference or implication. The lower court's construction to the contrary not only violates the most fundamental of principles regarding penal legislation, but, if accepted, would be unbounded in implication. It is premised on the view that a court whenever it perceives a breach in legislative wisdom as to penalties (or, for that matter, as to substantive criminal provisions themselves), or a lack of mathematical precision or symmetry in failing to "appropriately" rank the vast array of offenses in the State in unerring penal proportionality -- may revise or amend the statute. Such a view defies the basic constitutional scheme of separation of powers, and would leave the Florida Criminal Code resting on sand.

For instance, § 775.087(1), Fla.Stat., provides for upward reclassification of felonies whenever a firearm or weapon is involved and is not an essential element of the offense. The statute only provides for reclassification of first, second and third degree felonies. Certainly, according to the reasoning below, if the Legislature intended upward reclassification of the lower three gradations of felony (as it has provided in § 775.084 for sentencing enhancement of the lower three gradations of felony), it must have intended that life felonies be reclassified upon the same operative event upward to a capital

felony. If so, then what is one to make of a specific provision for reclassification upward of a life felony to a capital felony, in another statute (§ 775.0875(2), Fla.Stat. (1989)), when an individual commits a crime involving a firearm taken from a law enforcement officer? Is the provision in one statute, and the absence in the other, irrelevant?'

To the contrary, the compelled conclusion, upon due consideration of the nature and implications of the decision below, is that the principles of strict construction of penal statutes and construction of statutes <u>in pari materia</u> require a flat rejection of the argument. So too, distinctly, do the constitutional principles of due process and separation of powers.<sup>9</sup>

Contrary to the segmented, non-contextual construction of the

See also, e.g., § 775.0845, providing upward reclassification for wearing a mask during an offense, for misdemeanors and second and third degree felonies, but for neither first degree nor life felonies.

Cf. Nephew v. State, 580 So.2d 305, 306 n. 1 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)(recognizing, upon rejecting an unconstitutional vagueness argument and holding that the twenty-five year mandatory minimum sentence for attempted murder of a law enforcement officer applies to all degrees of attempted murder, that a defendant could receive a lesser sentence for <u>completing</u> the third degree felony murder (a second degree felony) of a law enforcement offices than for attempting the same offense: "This is certainly questionable as a matter of public policy and perhaps warrants re-visitation by the Legislature(.)"), cause dismissed, 593 So.2d 1052 (Fla. 1992); Carpentier v. State, 587 So.2d 1355, 1358 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) ("It is true that, under current law, a person convicted of thirddegree murder of an law enforcement officer would receive a less severe sentence than one convicted of attempted murder of an officer under Section 784.07(3). However, there is no requirement that the Legislature address all related evils simultaneously or that it even address all related evils.").

statute engaged in by the lower court, the Habitual Offender Act, \$ 775.084, must be construed as a unitary, cohesive whole. The proper construction is that when both an individual -- pursuant to subsection (1)(a) or (1)(b) - and his offense -- pursuant to subsection (4)(a) or (4)(b) - qualify, then a court may<sup>10</sup> impose an extended sentence under subsection (4)(a) or (4)(b). Upon, and only upon, that event occurring, do the provisions of subsection (4)(e) become operative. The lower court, in truncating the statute, has read subsection (4)(e) as if it were a separate sentencing authority. That is not what the statute provides. Subsection (4)(a), and the more recently added subsection (4)(b), quite to the contrary of being so casually disregardable as the lower court viewed them, constitute the actual sentencing authority of the section.

# JUDICIAL LEGISLATION

In its decision, the Third District disregarded the plain text of the statute, and engaged in a creative and expansive construction to judicially further what it considered worthy ends, i.e., providing of proportionately greater punishment for proportionately more serious habitual felony offenses. However, it is apodictic that, in addition to the cardinal rule that penal statutes must be strictly construed, <u>see § 775.021(1)</u>, Fla.Stat.<sup>11</sup>;

The statute is permissive, not mandatory. <u>Burdick v. State</u>, 594 So.2d at 269-71.

10

This subsection mandates that Florida penal statutes "shall be strictly construed; when the language is susceptible of <u>State v. Wershow</u>, 343 So.2d 605 (Fla. 1977), it is not the role of the courts to disregard or alter the plain meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute to reach what may be regarded as a "more desirable" result.

See, e.g., <u>State v. Barnes</u>, 595 So.2d 22, 24 (Fla. 1992) (that it would make more sense for the habitual offender act to require prior convictions to be sequential does not provide a basis for a court to alter the plain meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute; "The sequential conviction requirement provides a basic, underlying reasonable justification for the imposition of the habitual sentence, and we suggest that the legislature re-examine this area of the law to assure that the present statute carries out its intent and purpose.").

# INCORRECT CONSTRUCTION OF SUBSECTION (4)(e) AND FLAWED CONCLUSION OF AMENDMENT BY IMPLICATION

The Third District's decision hinges upon subsection (4)(e), which exempts habitual offender sentences "imposed under this section" from the sentencing guidelines, provisions for parole, and eligibility for basic gain-time. There are numerous flaws in this reliance, not the least of which is, ironically, textual error. The reference in subsection 4(e) to exemption of sentences "imposed under this section" <u>necessarily</u> refers to a sentence <u>otherwise</u> properly imposable under the Habitual Offender Act. As developed herein, the Habitual Offender Act does <u>not</u> otherwise

differing constructions, it shall be construed most favorably to the accused."

provide for such sentences.<sup>12</sup>

12

Moreover, the lower court's decision manifests confusion between the concept of sentence (and enhancement thereof) and the concept of time served under a sentence. The Habitual Offender Act provided for enhancement of sentence, i.e., the enhancement of the statutory maximum of sentence, for some seventeen years before subsection 4(e) was enacted. Enhancement under the habitual offender statute has always denoted, by the express provisions of subsection 4(a) and, more recently, 4(b), the extension of an otherwise applicable statutory maximum sentence.

Subsection 4(e) did not, contrary to the reasoning below, alter the definition of enhancement; it altered the <u>effects</u> of enhancement in two respects. In the first instance, responding to this Court's sentencing guidelines decisions which had constrained the operation of the habitual offender statute, <u>see Whitehead v.</u> <u>State</u>, 498 So.2d 863 (Fla. 1986); <u>Winters v. State</u>, 522 So.2d 816 (Fla. 1988), it exempted sentences <u>otherwise properly</u> <u>extended</u> under the habitual offender statute from operation of the

The same infirmity inheres in the lower court's reliance on 775.0841 and 775.0842 (dealing with SS. career criminal prosecutions), which were enacted along with subsection (4)(e). Nothing in § 775.0841 or 775.0842 altered the definition of offense under the Habitual Offender Act; to the contrary, they specifically incorporated the definition <u>otherwise provided</u> under § 775.084, as clearly manifested by the following language: "(P)rovided that such person qualifies as a habitual felony offender or a habitual violent felony offender under s. 775.084." See § 775.0842. Notwithstanding the clear upgrading of efforts with regard to career criminals represented by these sections, the fact is not altered that life felonies, like capital felonies, do <u>not</u> fall within the scope of § 775.084.

guidelines. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Bateman v. State</u>, 566 So.2d 358, 359 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) ("The amendment to § 775.084(4)(e), Florida Statutes, effective October 1988, supersedes <u>Whitehead v. State</u>. This statute removes habitual offender sentences from the sentencing guidelines."); <u>Kinq v. State</u>, 587 So.2d 899, 903 n. 1 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), ("This particular subsection was in response to cases such as <u>Whitehead v. State</u>."), <u>rev. denied</u>, 564 So.2d 1086 (Fla. 1990); <u>Owens v. State</u>, 560 So.2d 1260, 1261 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (noting effect of amendment on <u>Whitehead</u>).

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