IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 79,547

ANTHONY SESSIONS,

Petitioner,

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW CERTIFIED CONFLICT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0239437 Department of Legal Affairs 401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921 Past Office Box 013241 Miami, Florida 33101 (305) 377-5441

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, ANTHONY SESSIONS, was the defendant in the trial court and the Appellant in the Third District Court of Appeal. The Respondent, THE STATE OF FLORIDA, was the prosecution in the trial court and the Appellee in the District Court. The parties will be referred to as they stand before this Court. The symbol "R" will designate the record on appeal; the symbol "T" will designate the transcript of proceedings and the symbol "A" will designate the Appendix to this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts the Petitioner's statement of the case and facts as a substantially accurate account of the proceedings below.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Third District properly held that life felonies are subject to enhancement under the Habitual Offender Act. The 1988 Amendment of **the** Act was in response to this Court's holding that the sentencing guidelines implicitly overruled the Habitual Offender Act. The 1989 version reinstated the Act to its status prior to the enactment of the guidelines and therefore what a life sentence was prior to the guidelines, is what a life sentence is in the 1989 version of the Act.

Prior to the guidelines, there was not a need to include life felonies in the Habitual Offender Act, since a life sentence meant a life sentence. Under the guidelines, life does not mean life. The Legislature realized this when it amended the Act and based on the legislative history, the Legislature clearly sought to severely punish those repeat offenders convicted of the most serious crimes, Based on this legislative history, life felonies, which cannot be enhanced by degree, can be enhanced by insuring that a life sentence imposed under the Act is imposed without regard to the limitations imposed thereon by the guidelines. Therefore, life felonies are included within the Act, and a non guidelines life sentence can be imposed upon a finding that a defendant meets the Act's criteria.

-3-

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER THE FLORIDA HABITUAL OFFENDER ACT, SECTION 775.084, FLA. STAT. (1989) PROVIDES FOR ENHANCEMENT OF LIFE FELONY SENTENCES.

ARGUMENT

THE HABITUAL OFFENDER ACT, SECTION 775.084, FLA. STAT. (1989) PROVIDES FOR ENHANCEMENT OF LIFE FELONY SENTENCES.

The Third District Court of Appeal held that the Habitual Offender Act, 8775.084 Fla. Stat. (1989) provides for enhancement of life felony sentences. The correctness of this holding is evident only after a careful review of the Statute and its relationship with the sentencing guidelines.

Prior to the enactment of the Sentencing Guidelines, §921.001 Fla. Stat. (1985), this Court enunciated the purpose of the Habitual Offender Act. <u>Eutsey v. State</u>, **383** So.2d 219, 223 (Fla. 1980).

> [1-3] The purpose of the habitual offender act is to allow enhanced penalties for those defendants who meet objective guidelines indicating recidivism. The enhanced punishment, however, is only an incident to the last offense. The act does not create a substantive offense. new It merelv prescribes a longer sentence for the subsequent offenses which triggers the operation of the act. The determination of whether one may be sentenced as an habitual offender is independent of the determination guilt of the underlying substantive of offense, and new findings of fact separate and distinct from the crime charged are required. Reynolds v. Cochran, 138 So, 2d 500 (Fla. 1962).

The Act has always been construed as a penalty enhancement statute rather than a felony reclassification statute. <u>Washington v. Mayo</u>, 91 So.2d 621 (Fla. 1957). As such, it merely prescribed longer sentences, but does not reclassify the offenses enhanced as being new substantive offenses.

Prior to the enactment of the guidelines and prior to the 1988 Amendments, the Act did not specifically enumerate life felonies **as** a class of felony subject to a sentence enhancement. The reason is that, prior to the guidelines, a **life** sentence meant life. As such, a life sentence was the harshest penalty authorized by law and consequently such a sentence could not be enhanced. The Petitioner's contention that a life sentence can be enhanced to a capital life felony is mesitless inasmuch as the Legislature has determined that only certain crimes, which only the Legislature can designate, is deserving of a capital life sentence. <u>Rusaw v. State</u>, 451 So.2d 469 (Fla. 1984). Therefore, an ordinary life sentence cannot be enhanced to a Capital life felony. Based upon the foregoing, there was absolutely no need to enumerate life felonies in the Act.

Subsequently, this Court in <u>Whitehead v. State</u>, **498** So.2d **863** (Fla. 1986) and <u>Winters v. State</u>, 522 So.2d 816 (Fla. 1988) held that the enactment of the Sentencing Guidelines, §921.001, Fla. Stat. (1985) implicitly repealed the Habitual Offender Act, Accordingly, an habitual offender sentence could only be imposed

- 6 -

if there were valid reasons to depart from the guidelines and the fact that the defendant was an habitual offender was not a valid reason for departure. Thereafter, life sentences were subject to the guidelines and the actual sentence served could be from 6 months to life, with sole discretion resting with the Department of Corrections. 8921.18, Fla. Stat. (1991).

In response to and to overrule the foregoing decisions, the Legislature amended the Habitual Offender Statute as follows:

> 4(e) A sentence imposed under this section shall not be subject to the provisions of s. 921.001. The provisions of Chapter 945 shall not be applied to such persons. A defendant sentenced under this section shall not be eligible for gain time granted by the Department of Corrections except that the department may grant up to 20 days of incentive gain time each month as provided for in **s**. 944.275(4)(b).

In accordance with this section, the Habitual Offender Act is an independent sentencing alternative to the sentencing guidelines. If it is used, then the defendant is not entitled to the relatively minor sentences after all gain time is taken into account the guidelines impose, and is not entitled to parole or any gain time, except incentive gain time. This type of sentence is clearly within the legislative intent. See §§ 775.0841 and 775.0842, Fla. Stat. (1989).

-7-

This amendment along with the legislative intent, establishes that the Legislature meant to reestablish sentences for life felonies not to be subject to the sentencing quidelines. A life felony sentenced enforced pursuant to 775.084(4)(e) is imposed outside the quidelines and therefore is subject to only discretionary incentive gain time. It is not subject to parole or to the indeterminate sentence statute, Section 921.18, Fla, Stat. (1991). The sentence is not left to the discretion of Department of Corrections and this is exactly the type of sentence the Legislature intended career criminals to serve. Ιf life felonies are exempted from the Act, a sentence for a life felony would be less than for a first degree felony. This result would be absurd in light of the intent behind the amendments to the Act.

In the interest of judicial economy, the State adopts the Third District's analysis, to any issue not specifically addressed in this brief.

-8-

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing points and authorities, the State respectfully urges this Court to affirm the District Court's finding that life sentences are included in the Habitual Offender Act.